
 

 

 
 
 
 

November 13, 2014 
 
 
Re:    15ITB94539C-DR, JANITORIAL SERVICES for FULTON COUNTY 

GOVERNMENT CENTER COMPLEX (GROUP A, C, D, & G) 
 
 
 
Dear Proposer(s): 
 
Attached is one (1) copy of Addendum 2, hereby made a part of the above referenced  
15ITB94539C-DR, JANITORIAL SERVICES for FULTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT 
CENTER COMPLEX (GROUP A, C, D, & G) 
.   
 
Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions in the 15ITB94539C-DR 
referenced above remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

Donald R. Riley 
Donald R. Riley, CPPB 
Assistant Purchasing Agent 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

15ITB94539C-DR, JANITORIAL SERVICES for FULTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT 
CENTER COMPLEX (GROUP A, C, D, & G) 
 
Addendum No. 2 
Page Two 
 
This Addendum forms a part of the contract documents and modifies the original ITB 
documents as noted below: 
 
Attached hereto are responses to questions submitted in reference to the above 
ITB and a Schedule of Time for Complex C, D, & G. 
 
See the attached 2013 Bid Tabulation Sheet & Pricing Sheet Per Square Foot  
 
Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions in the bid referenced above remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 

            Failure to return a signed copy of this addendum could render your bid non-responsive. 
 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF ADDENDUM NO. 2 
   
The undersigned proposer acknowledges receipt of this addendum by returning one (1) 
copy of this form with the proposal package to the Department of Purchasing & Contract 
Compliance, Fulton County Public Safety Building, 130 Peachtree Street, Suite 1168, 
Atlanta, Georgia 30303 by the ITB due date and time November 19, 2014 at 11:00 
A.M. 
 
 
This is to acknowledge receipt of Addendum No. 2, __________ day of ____________, 
20__. 
 
________________________________ 
Legal Name of Bidder 
 
       
________________________________ 
Signature of Authorized Representative 
 
 
________________________________ 
Title 



 

 

15ITB94539C-DR, Janitorial services for Fulton County Government Center Complex 
(Group A, C, D, & G) 
 
Below are questions for Bid #: 15ITB94539C-DR, Janitorial services for Fulton County 

Government Center Complex (Group A, C, D, & G) 

1. When is the next facility tour being held for buildings C, D, & G?   

Response: See addendum #1 for the next tour dates and times. 

2. Is there a current contract in place for the Fulton County Government Center Complex 

(A, C, D, & G)? If not, when was the last contract?   

Response: Yes, there is a current contract in place and it was issued in 2013. 

3. What is the current contract price for Complex A, C, D, & G)?  

Response:  You may obtain that information from the Fulton County Government bid 
board, Purchasing Department.  For additional information concerning pricing on the 
previous contract, vendors may request an open records request on solicitation # 
13ITB87106C-MT, Janitorial Services for Selected Facilities. 
   
It is the policy of Fulton County, that review of Purchasing files are conducted in the 
Department of Purchasing & Contract Compliance located in the Fulton County 
Government Center, 130 Peachtree Street, Public Safety Building, 1st Floor, Suite 
1168, Atlanta, Georgia 30303-3459. The department hours of operations are Monday 
through Friday, 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
 

4. If there isn’t a current contract, what was the previous contract price?   

Response:  For additional information concerning pricing on the previous contract, 
vendors may request an open records request on solicitation # 13ITB87106C-MT, 
Janitorial Services for Selected Facilities. 
   
It is the policy of Fulton County, that review of Purchasing files are conducted in the 
Department of Purchasing & Contract Compliance located in the Fulton County 
Government Center, 130 Peachtree Street, Public Safety Building, 1st Floor, Suite 
1168, Atlanta, Georgia 30303-3459. The department hours of operations are Monday 
through Friday, 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
 

5. Is the scope of work the same? If not, what has changed?  

Response:  Make your decisions and bid based off the current Scope of Work. 

 

 



 

 

6. How many Day Porters are required at the Complex A?   

Response:  All pertinent information is listed in 15ITB94539C-DR for questions 6, 7, 8, 

and 9. 

7. How many Day Porters are required at the Complex C? 

Response:   See Section 4 of the bid document concerning Complex C.  

8. How many Day Porters are required at the Complex D? 

Response:  See Section 4 of the bid document concerning Complex D. 

9. How many Day Porters are required at the Complex G? 

Response:  See Section 4 of the bid document concerning Complex G. 

10. What brand and types of paper towel dispensers are currently being used?  Or what 

type of paper towels are required-Large roll with hand wave automatic feeder, folded 

paper towels, etc.?   

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded. What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

11. Are paper towels only required for the restrooms? Or will supplier have to supply paper 

towels for the employee break rooms? If so, what type of paper towel is required for 

break rooms?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded. What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully.  

12. What type of toilet paper is required? Single large roll? Individual Single Ply rolls? 

Individual Double Ply rolls?   

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid. Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded. What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully.  



 

 

13. Is there a current usage for toilet tissue, toilet liners, paper towels, hand soap, sanitary 

napkins, urinal screens and deodorant blocks, paper cups, etc.?   

Response:  No.  For additional information concerning usage on the previous contract, 
vendors may request an open records request.. 
   
It is the policy of Fulton County, that review of Purchasing files are conducted in the 

Department of Purchasing & Contract Compliance located in the Fulton County 

Government Center, 130 Peachtree Street, Public Safety Building, 1st Floor, Suite 

1168, Atlanta, Georgia 30303-3459. The department hours of operations are Monday 

through Friday, 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

14. Who is responsible for supplying the trash bags at complex A, C, D & G?  If the vendor 

is responsible, what brand, type, and size trash bags are required? Is there a current 

usage for trash bags for Complex A, C, D, & G?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid. Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded. What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully.   

15. What brand and type of toilet tissue dispensers are currently being used in Complex A, 

C, D & G?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid. Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded. What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully.    

16. What brand and type of paper towel dispensers are currently being used in Complex A, 

C, D & G?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid. Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded. What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully.    

 

 



 

 

17. What brand and type of hand soap dispensers are currently being used in Complex A, 

C, D & G?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid. Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded. What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully.   

18. What brand and type of water dispensers are currently being used in Complex A, C, D & 

G?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid. Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded. What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully.    

19. What brand, type and size of cups are required at Complex A, C, D & G?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid. Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded. What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully.     

20. Section Scope of Work pg. 47.  What “other required supplies” is the vendor responsible 

for supplying for each complex?   

Response:  There is no list; it means exactly what it states.  If other required supplies 

are needed to provide the highest quality of janitorial services, then the Vendor must 

purchase them at no cost to the County. 

21. What feminine products does the vendor have to supply other than sanitary napkins?  

Response:  Feminine products that are being used on the commercial market. 

22. Section Scope of Work pg. 48. Which facilities do not have locker rooms?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 



 

 

23. Section Scope of Work pg. 50 Does the Project/Site Manager has to be a non-working 

manager? Or is a working manager acceptable?   

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

24. Section Training pg. 50 Can you provide the Fulton County Floor Technician II job 

description?   

Response:  No, you will have to obtain a copy from the Personnel Department. 

25. What is the cost of keys if they are lost or not returned by the employee?  

Response:  Whatever the cost is for replacement—it can vary depending on what was 

lost.  There will be no cost to the County. 

26. What is the cost of false alarms? If accidentally, set off by vendor employees?   

Response:  Whatever the Law Enforcement Agency charges for the infraction. 

27. Services Required – Scrubbing & Re-Coating Floor #3 pg. 62 How many coats of wax 

are required to re-coat the floors?  

Response:  As many coats as necessary to meet service requirements in accordance 

with 15ITB94539C-DR.  Please read the ITB carefully.  It is highly recommended that 

bidders visit all facilities on which they are bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to 

make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid 

in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope 

of Work Summary and Technical Specifications. 

28. General Cleaning C – Window Cleaning  #8 pg. 64 How many ground level windows are 

in Complex A?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully.                            

 



 

 

29. General Cleaning C – Window Cleaning  #8 pg. 64 How many ground level windows are 

in Complex C?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

30. General Cleaning C – Window Cleaning  #8 pg. 64 How many ground level windows are 

in Complex D?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

31. General Cleaning C – Window Cleaning  #8 pg. 64 How many ground level windows are 

in Complex G?  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

32. Waste Removal D – Recycling Program #2 pg. 65 Does the Recycling Program Plan 

have to be submitted with the bid? Or is this required by the successful bidder?  

Response:  Submit with your bid-- It can be part of your Training Plan 

33. Break Room Cleaning F –Does clean sofas and couches mean shampooing the sofas 

and couches? If so, How often must the shampooing is completed? How many sofas 

and chairs are in each break room(s) in complex A, C, D, & G that require shampooing?  

Response:  Only the best commercial practices are to prevail. It is highly recommended 

that bidders visit all facilities on which they are bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure 

to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the responsibility to: 1) submit a complete 

bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if awarded.  What’s required is in the 

Scope of Work Summary and Technical Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR 

carefully. 

 



 

 

34. Special Areas G - #1 Pressure Washing- How often is pressure washing required?   

Response:  It is at the discretion of the County. 

35. Special Areas G - #2 Elevator Cleaning- How often is shampooing the carpet is 

required?  

Response:  See Table D—Floor Care Services to be Performed. 

36. Table D - Floor Care Services to be Performed #7 Strip and refinish all hard flooring-

Does this include all VCT, hardwood, cement? What other types of floors does Fulton 

County have that require stripping & refinishing? How many coats of refinish are 

required? Only the best commercial practices are to prevail.  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

37. How many feet from the entrance of the building are ground maintenance required for 

Complex A, Complex C, Complex D, & Complex G? Or is ground maintenance required 

for the entire exterior facility?  Area and distance may vary between each Group of 

Buildings—meet or exceed requirements in Table F.   

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

38. How many ground maintenance associates are required to maintain the entry ways, 

exterior grounds, parking lots and landscape areas? As many as necessary to meet the 

requirements of Table F.  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

 

 



 

 

39. Group C Libraries-pg. 70 What type of service does the Georgia Hill Library require? 

Day Porter? Night Cleaning? Or both: Day Porter and night time cleaning?  

Response:  Georgia Hill Library requires the save service as MLK, Peachtree, and 

Mechanicsville—six (6) days a week, night cleaning. 

40. How many days per week is the Georgia Hill Library open?  

Response:  6 Days visit www.afpls.org/  

41. Please explain: What is meant by “Less Multipurpose Kitchen “in Group G and (North 

Senior Centers) & Central Senior Centers on pg. 71 & 72 in the charts?  

Response:  This is the square footage minus the kitchen cleanable square footage.  For 

example, the total cleanable square footage for H.G. Darnell is 27,720.  The cleanable 

square footage of the Kitchen is 3,701; therefore, the cleanable square footage that falls 

within the responsibility of the Janitorial Contractor is 24,019.  The Janitorial Contractor 

is responsible for the cleaning of the Kitchen Offices and Kitchen Restrooms.  The Head 

Cook and Cook are responsible for the cleaning and sanitation of the Multipurpose 

Kitchens. 

42. Comprehensive Janitorial Training Program pg. 50 Does the Comprehensive Janitorial 

Training Program have to be submitted with the bid? Or is this required by the 

successful bidder?  

Response:  Submit with your bid. 

43. What is the percentage of VCT vs Carpet vs Cement vs Hardwood vs Laminate in 

Complex A?  

Response:  Not Available.  

It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are bidding before 

submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the responsibility 

to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if awarded.  

What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical Specifications.  Please 

read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

44. What is the percentage of VCT vs Carpet vs Cement vs Hardwood vs Laminate in 

Complex C? Not Available.  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

http://www.afpls.org/


 

 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

45. What is the percentage of VCT vs Carpet vs Cement vs Hardwood vs Laminate in 

Complex D? Not Available.  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

46. What is the percentage of VCT vs Carpet vs Cement vs Hardwood vs Laminate in 

Complex G? Not Available.  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

47. Is the dry cleaning carpet cleaning method preferred for all carpet cleaning? Or is hot 

water extraction an acceptable method?  

Response:  The best commercial practices will prevail—results are what matters—any 

material being used which is not achieving desired results will be replaced with a more 

effective product. 

48. How many days per week is night service required for the North Senior Centers? 

Number of service hours may vary.  

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

49.  How many days per week is night service required for the Central Senior Centers? 

Number of service hours may vary.   

Response:  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they are 

bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 



 

 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical 

Specifications.  Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully. 

50. What is meant by “Premium Events=100” under the North & Central Senior Centers?   

 

Response:  This is an estimate; 100 hours of possible support needed throughout the 

year for emergencies or special support within the centers.  Submit an Hourly Day 

Porter cost for supporting this cause, if necessary. 

 

51. How many employees are required for the premium events?   

 

Response:  No specific number—can vary from event to event. 

 

52. What is the estimated attendance of individuals for the premium events? 

 

Response:  Not available. 

53. The 5% bid bond of the TOTAL AMOUNT of the base bid...Does the "base bid" include all day 
porter services pricing?  Due to the fact that a 5% bid bond is required and that answers to 
questions are necessary for accurate and concise pricing to be determined, and that an 
adequate amount of time to secure a bid bond once pricing has been determined...Would it be 
possible to amend the bid due date to a minimum of seven (7) working days after the answers 
to all questions have been posted? 
   

Response:  Yes all vendor’s pricing shall be all inclusive including day porters, supplies, 

management, staffing ….etc to perform all services included in the bid specifications. 

 

The bid due date is November 19, 2014 at 11:00 a.m. est. 

 

54. Is the bridge included in the scope of work?   

Yes, it would require the cleaning outlined in the cleaning schedule.  

 

55. Is the contractor required to complete ground maintenance for the entire facility and parking 

lots (Group A, C, D & G)? If not, what is the radius from the entrance of the building that is 

required for ground maintenance cleaning at all locations (Group A, C, D & G)?   

Response:  Area and distance may vary between each Group of Buildings—meet or exceed 

requirements in Table F.  It is highly recommended that bidders visit all facilities on which they 

are bidding before submitting a bid.  Failure to make such a visit will not relieve bidder of the 

responsibility to: 1) submit a complete bid in proper form, or 2) properly clean a facility if 

awarded.  What’s required is in the Scope of Work Summary and Technical Specifications.  



 

 

Please read 15ITB94539C-DR carefully.  Once awarded, if a Vendor is still confused, 

responsibilities will be thoroughly discussed with the awarded bidder. 

56. Central Library-Is cleaning required for the 8th floor? If so, what specialized training is required 

for employees to clean this section of the library?    

Response:  Presently, the 8th floor is closed for repairs.  Once the repairs are completed, the 

awarded Vendor will be responsible for the cleaning of the 8th floor.  The 8th floor is already 

included in the cleanable square footage (247,800). 

57. Can gas blowers be used at the libraries?   

Response:  No, battery or electric blowers are the preferred method due to the risk involved in 

utilizing equipment with flammable liquids; however, if a Contractor uses equipment that 

requires a flammable liquid, vapor, or gas, they are responsible for any damage or accidents 

resulting from the use of that equipment and may be terminated from the Janitorial Contract.  

The use of propane burnishing equipment is prohibited. 

58. Helene S. Mills, H.G. Darnell & D.C Benson-Are the kitchens required to be cleaned under this 

contract? The square footage states that the kitchens are not included. However, during the 

tour of the Helene S. Mills tour it was referenced that the kitchens were included in the scope 

of work.  The document states the following for the Kitchens: G Special Areas #5 pg. 66 

Kitchen Cleaning- Clean all Kitchen Offices & Restrooms: Offices and Restrooms in 

accordance with existing standards described in the bid document. Please clarify what has to 

be cleaned in the kitchen.   

Response:  The “Less Multipurpose Kitchen” column:  This is the square footage minus the 

kitchen cleanable square footage.  For example, the total cleanable square footage for H.G. 

Darnell is 27,720.  The cleanable square footage of the Kitchen is 3,701; therefore, the 

cleanable square footage that falls within the responsibility of the Janitorial Contractor is 

24,019.  The Janitorial Contractor is responsible for the cleaning of the Kitchen Offices and 

Kitchen Restrooms.  The Head Cook and Cook are responsible for the cleaning and sanitation 

of the Multipurpose Kitchens at H.G. Darnell (3,701 sq. ft.), D.C. Benson (3,123 sq. ft.) and 

Helene S. Mills (3,046 sq. ft.).  

In accordance with the ITB, Kitchen Cleaning—Offices & Restrooms:  Clean all Kitchen Offices 

and Restrooms in accordance with existing standards described in the bid document.  Once 

awarded, if a Vendor is still confused, responsibilities will be thoroughly discussed and clarified 

with the awarded bidder. 

59.  Who is the point of contact that will allow me to  inspect the facilities ?   

Response:  See addendum #1; however, all inquiries must go through Donald R. Riley. 



 

 

60. What is the time for the general cleaners to exit the government Center?   

Response:  Normally, general night cleaning must be accomplished by 11:30pm; however, if 

more time is needed for the accomplishment of Janitorial Periodic Work, you can coordinate 

with the Building Maintenance Manager and you may stay as long as needed to accomplish 

the cleaning/periodic. 

61.  Will you give me a copy of the bid tabulation sheet from the last time this contract let?   

Response:  No, you may obtain it through open records request or you may get the information 

from the Fulton County Government Website, Purchasing Department. 

62. Can you give me information on the staff population for each facility, or do you have 

data for the paper product usage in the pass? 

Response:  No, you may obtain it through open records request.   
   
It is the policy of Fulton County, that review of Purchasing files are conducted in the 
Department of Purchasing & Contract Compliance located in the Fulton County 
Government Center, 130 Peachtree Street, Public Safety Building, 1st Floor, Suite 
1168, Atlanta, Georgia 30303-3459. The department hours of operations are Monday 
through Friday, 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
 

63. On the Group G.  You have a Central and North.  Are they considered as two different 

groups. If so can you bid on North and not Central or do you bid on group g as a whole 

group. On the bid form they appear to be separate.  Also are there night time cleaning 

or just day porters.  If so is it M-F or M-S (etc) for service days.  It doesn't specify as all 

the others building do at the bottom of each of the bid sheets.   

Response:  Yes they are separate Groups and you can bid on both.   

 

Day Porter support and night cleaning are required at the Senior Centers.  Number of 

service hours may vary for each facility.  Please have the Vendor to refer to Addendum 

1. 
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2013 Bid Summary

		Group				Clean Ft2		IREM                $/Ft2                (Lo-Med-Hi)		BOMA          $/Ft2                 (Lo-Med-Hi)		2000-2001 $/Ft2		2002-2003 $/Ft2		A Action Inc.		GMI Group,Inc		American Facilities		Mid South		Dream Team		QCS Cleaning Inc.		OJS Systems, Inc		RiteWay		KeeClean Inc.		CHI-ADA Corp.

		A		Gvt C		551,397				.71-.81-.84						No Bid		$502,437.40		$389,149.88		No Bid		No Bid		No Bid		$402,288.00		$389,919.60		$334,113.12		$348,797.85

		DP																$144,094.08		$162,648.00								$135,419.52		$137,467.68		$134,214.72		$144,576.00

																		$646,531.48		$551,797.88								$537,707.52		$527,387.28		$468,327.84		$493,373.85

		B		JCC		999,873		- .77 -		.79-.83-.85		$0.72134		$0.73176		No Bid		No Bid		$671,914.44		No Bid		No Bid		No Bid		561,504.00		$548,227.56		$545,407.80		$622,720.90

		DP																		$298,188.00								248,269.12		$252,024.08		$246,060.32		$265,056.00

																				$970,102.44								$809,773.12		$800,251.64		$791,468.12		$887,776.90

		C		C/A		327,561		- .77 -		.55-.61-.87		$0.70632		$0.69999		No Bid		No Bid		$259,633.00		No Bid		No Bid		No Bid		$208,960.00		$224,349.96		198,359.64		$220,398.30

		DP																		$115,209.00								$95,922.16		$97,372.94		95,068.76		$102,408.00

																				$374,842.00								$304,882.16		$321,722.90		$293,428.40		$322,806.30

		D		N Lib		163,465		.61-.70-.80		.65-.74-.84		$1.00058		$1.50000		No Bid		$252,859.22		$207,110.52		No Bid		No Bid		No Bid		$192,168.00		$194,353.56		$151,521.24		$160,134.76

		E		S Lib		104,012		.61-.70-.80		.65-.74-.84		$1.04101		$1.60000		No Bid		No Bid		$159,369.72		No Bid		No Bid		No Bid		$125,196.00		$131,438.16		$106,559.52		$95,562.33

		F		Oth N		10,043		.61-.70-.80		.65-.74-.84		$1.77643		$1.28000		No Bid		No Bid		$31,235.40		No Bid		$20,102.06		No Bid		$13,644.00		$15,006.48		$14,652.24		$8,737.41

		F		Oth S		32,452				.65-.74-.84						No Bid		No Bid		$46,145.40		$80,627.88		$64,955.80		No Bid		$37,308.00		$29,433.36		37,186.32		$24,339.20

		DP																		$27,108.00		$32,128.00		$24,598.00				$22,851.04		$22,911.28		22,369.12		$24,096.00

																				$73,253.40		$112,755.88		$89,553.80				$60,159.04		$52,344.64		$59,555.44		$48,435.20

		F		Wolf Cr												No Bid		No Bid				$3,824.97		$196.00		No Bid		$1,991.00		$276.12		No Bid		No Bid

		DP																				$3,200.00		$196.00				$2,198.40		$1,825.60

																						$7,024.97		$392.00				$4,189.4000		$2,101.72

		G		SS Ctr		92,008		.61-.70-.80		.65-.74-.84		$0.71256		$1.05000		$135,126.00		No Bid		$138,602.40		No Bid		No Bid		$82,887.1200		$120,903.00		No Bid		$85,732.96		$81,246.96

		DP														$141,438.50				$166,036.50						$122,990.00		$147,588.00				$137,010.86		$147,588.00

																$276,564.50				$304,638.90						$205,877.12		$268,491.00				$222,743.82		$228,834.96

		G		CS Ctr		30,093										$71,196.76		No Bid		$45,703.80		No Bid		No Bid		No Bid		$38,871.00		No Bid		$29,374.12		$27,380.91

		DP														$60,616.50				$71,158.50								$62,561.75				$58,718.94		$63,252.00

																$131,813.26				$116,862.30								$101,432.75				$88,093.06		$90,632.91

		G		NS Ctr		74,002										$136,813.60		$147,754.67		$118,500.00		No Bid		No Bid		No Bid		$96,654.00		No Bid		$72,686.96		$66,781.74

		DP														$135,665.50		$141,092.12		$159,259.50								$140,459.60				$131,418.58		$141,564.00

																$272,479.10		$288,846.79		$277,759.50								$237,113.60				$204,105.54		$208,345.74

		H		A Ctr		66,129		.61-.70-.80		.65-.74-.84		$0.75000		$0.61000		No Bid		No Bid		$55,548.36		No Bid		No Bid		$59,516.10		$79,344.00		$51,471.60		$49,179.84		$57,532.23

		DP						.61-.70-.80				$1.73107		$1.76000						$50,679.00						$37,540.00		$46,959.42		$42,833.14		$41,819.56		$45,048.00

																				$106,227.36						$97,056.10		$126,303.42		$94,304.74		$90,999.40		102,580.23

		I		Svc Ctr		107,580										$125,916.36		$93,404.22		$180,734.40		No Bid		No Bid		No Bid		$114,024.00		$60,175.80		$70,680.12		$159,811.94

		DP														$92,368.00		$96,062.72		$108,432.00								$98,311.68		$91,645.12		$89,476.48		$96,384.00

																$218,284.36		$189,466.94		$289,166.40								$212,335.68		$151,820.92		$160,156.60		256,195.94

				D P												$13.00		$12.10		$14.00		$11.78		$17.50		$13.11		$11.95		$12.00		$12.65		$15.00		$13.00

						Total Ft2						Median $/Ft2

						2,558,615						$0.71256		$1.28000

				Note:                             BOMA column shows Median and "Mid-range"                     (25%+/- median)				Standard Estimate

								Labor				50%

								Labor Costs				15%

								Supv/Mgmt				10%

								Sup/Equip				10%

								Profit/OH				15%



&CJanitorial Service Contract
2013 Bid Pricing Analysis



Bids

		Group		Atlanta Bldg Maint		Bldg Maint Svcs		Coleman/ Dust-Away		General Bldg Maint		Global Maint Inc		Beacon Comm Svcs		C & W            All-Purpose		Georgia Bldg Maint		One Source		2002-2003		Group

		B -  JCC																				GBM		B -  JCC

		Monthly		$48,900.00		$65,156.40		$58,235.21		$53,593.00		$61,261.28		NO BID		NO BID		NO BID		NO BID		$61,316.00		Monthly

		Annual		$586,800.00		$781,876.80		$698,822.52		$643,116.00		$735,135.40										$735,792.00		Annual

		$ / sq ft		$0.5835		$0.7760		$0.6950		$0.6396		$0.7311										$0.7318		$ / sq ft

		DP $ / Hr		$13.00		$15.00		$12.50		$12.07		$12.55										$12.50		DP $ / Hr

		DP Hrs / Yr		22,088		22,088		22,088		22,088		22,088										22,261		DP Hrs / Yr

		DP $ / Yr		$287,144.00		$331,320.00		$276,100.00		$266,602.16		$277,204.40										$278,262.50		DP $ / Yr

		Add'l Svc		$12.50		$12.75		$12.50		$12.07		$12.96										$12.66		Add'l Svc

		Total Ann $		$873,944.00		$1,113,196.80		$974,922.52		$909,718.16		$1,012,339.80										$1,014,054.50		Total Ann $

		C - C,A,P																				Coleman		C - C,A,P

		Monthly		$17,900.00		$19,214.87		$19,325.31		$21,148.00		$22,546.02		$22,000.00		NO BID		$36,370.09		NO BID		$19,325.00		Monthly

		Annual		$214,800.00		$230,578.53		$231,903.72		$253,776.00		$270,552.26		$264,000.00				$436,441.08				$231,900.00		Annual

		$ / sq ft		$0.6483		$0.6960		$0.7000		$0.7660		$0.8167		$0.8000				$1.3170				$0.69999		$ / sq ft

		DP $ / Hr		$13.00		$15.00		$12.50		$12.07		$12.55		$13.50				$12.50				$12.00		DP $ / Hr

		DP Hrs / Yr		8,785		8,785		8,785		8,785		8,785		8,785				8,785				8,785		DP Hrs / Yr

		DP $ / Yr		$114,205.00		$131,775.00		$109,813.00		$106,034.95		$110,251.75		$118,597.50				$109,812.50				$105,840.00		DP $ / Yr

		Add'l Svc		$12.50		$12.75		$12.50		$12.07		$12.96		$13.50				$12.75				$12.00		Add'l Svc

		Total Ann $		$329,005.00		$362,353.53		$341,716.72		$359,810.95		$380,804.01		$382,597.50				$546,253.58				$337,740.00		Total Ann $

		D - NL																				GBM		D - NL

		Monthly		$15,900.00		$17,337.12		NO BID		$17,337.00		$16,912.76		NO BID		NO BID		NO BID		NO BID		$17,332.00		Monthly

		Annual		$190,800.00		$208,045.50				$208,044.00		$202,953.14										$207,984.00		Annual

		$ / sq ft		$1.3756		$1.5000				$1.5000		$1.4633										$1.50000		$ / sq ft

		Add'l Svc		$12.50		$12.75				$12.07		$12.96										$12.66		Add'l Svc

		E - SL																				GBM		E - SL

		Monthly		$12,844.66		$14,940.00		NO BID		$14,006.00		$15,447.60		NO BID		NO BID		NO BID		NO BID		$14,946.35		Monthly

		Annual		$154,135.92		$179,280.00				$168,072.00		$185,371.22										$179,356.20		Annual

		$ / sq ft		$1.3756		$1.6000				$1.5000		$1.6544										$1.60000		$ / sq ft

		Add'l Svc		$12.50		$12.75				$12.07		$12.96										$12.66		Add'l Svc

		F - Grnds																				ABM		F - Grnds

		Monthly		$3,150.00		$4,718.00		NO BID		$5,213.00		$4,692.66		NO BID		$11,000.00		NO BID		NO BID		$4,537.66		Monthly

		Annual		$37,800.00		$56,616.00				$62,556.00		$56,311.96				$132,000.00						$54,451.92		Annual

		$ / sq ft		$1.1683		$1.7500				$1.9336		$1.7406				$4.0800						$0.70632		$ / sq ft

		Add'l Svc		$12.50		$12.75				$12.07		$12.96				$20.00						$13.00		Add'l Svc

		G - Sr Ctr																				One Source		G - Sr Ctr

		Monthly		$21,000.00		$23,980.95		NO BID		$15,639.75		$23,649.21		NO BID		$23,750.00		NO BID		$25,000.00		$48,256.61		Monthly

		Annual		$252,000.00		$287,771.40				$187,677.00		$283,790.50				$285,000.00				$300,000.00		$579,079.32		Annual

		$ / sq ft		$1.0070		$1.1500				$0.7500		$1.1341				$1.1400				$1.2000		$0.7318		$ / sq ft

		DP $ / Hr		$13.00		$15.00				$12.07		$12.55				$18.50				$12.00		$12.00		DP $ / Hr

		DP Hrs / Yr		26,606		26,606				26,606		26,606				26,606				26,606		26,606		DP Hrs / Yr

		DP $ / Yr		$345,878.00		$399,090.00				$321,134.42		$333,905.30				$492,211.00				$319,272.00		$319,272.00		DP $ / Yr

		Add'l Svc		$12.50		$12.75				$12.07		$12.96				$20.00				$12.00		$13.00		Add'l Svc

		Total Ann $		$597,878.00		$686,861.40				$508,811.42		$617,695.80				$777,211.00				$619,272.00		$898,351.32		Total Ann $

		H - Arts																				ABM		H - Arts

		Monthly		$2,900.00		$4,791.00		NO BID		$6,388.00		$5,962.20		NO BID		NO BID		NO BID		NO BID		$8,136.16		Monthly

		Annual		$34,800.00		$57,492.00				$76,656.00		$71,546.36										$97,633.92		Annual

		$ / sq ft		$0.5447		$0.9000				$1.2000		$1.1200										$0.7318		$ / sq ft

		DP $ / Hr		$13.00		$15.00				$12.07		$12.55										$12.00		DP $ / Hr

		DP Hrs / Yr		4,518		4,518				4,518		4,518										4,516		DP Hrs / Yr

		DP $ / Yr		$58,734.00		$67,770.00				$54,532.26		$56,700.90										$58,708.00		DP $ / Yr

		Add'l Svc		$56,700.90		$12.75				$12.07		$12.96										$13.00		Add'l Svc

		Total Ann $		$93,534.00		$125,262.00				$131,188.26		$128,247.26										$156,341.92		Total Ann $

		I - Lease																				ABM		I - Lease

		Monthly		$1,500.00		$1,738.10		NO BID		$1,717.66		$2,348.17		NO BID		NO BID		NO BID		NO BID		$1,800.00		Monthly

		Annual		$18,000.00		$20,857.30				$20,611.92		$28,177.99										$21,600.00		Annual

		$ / sq ft		$1.4671		$1.7000				$1.6800		$2.2967										$1.76000		$ / sq ft

		Add'l Svc		$12.50		$12.75				$12.07		$12.96										$13.00		Add'l Svc
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